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INTRODUCTION



There was never an empire like the British Empire, according to the senior history tutor at school, even while the Empire (always an upper-case E on the blackboard) was being dismantled. The Spanish under the Habsburgs and then under the Bourbons by the 1700s was the largest empire in the world. It was the Spanish and not the British Empire about which it was said that the sun never sets. It began in the early sixteenth century and started its decline in the nineteenth century, particularly after the Spanish American war of independence. The British Empire kept going.


The Spanish Empire spread from the Americas, north and south, Asia, the Pacific and the Caribbean. It returned its last colonies to their African people in 1976. The Catholic Monarchy was called the first European state. A dozen languages were spoken and understood and the second most understood language in the world, Spanish, survived. The other modern empires had none of the scope nor history of the British and the Spanish.1


There were three common aspects of the British and Spaniards: first, when their empire building began both had long unbroken histories of monarchy. Athelstan was recognised as King of not just the English, but King of England in 926. Charles 1 in 1516 became the first Spanish monarch. They had a constant identity and did not slide through ever-moving borders under more powerful cultures and ambitions. Secondly, both nations had coastlines. Spain was part of the Iberian Peninsula and Britain was an island state; thus both were easier to defend compared with the inland European states. Most importantly, both had constant access to the way of the rest of the world, even the unknown – the sea. You cannot have an empire unless you have a coastline. After the nineteenth century, did countries build empires in their own continents – unless you count the Warsaw Pact? A landlocked nation cannot guarantee to reach its empire to supply it, bring back its spoils or defend it.


It was no coincidence that the most brilliant royal school of navigation that would make that access possible was the other Iberian monarch, Infante Dom Henrique, o Navegador, Prince Henry the Navigator of Portugal.2 Henry was further south; therefore the rest of the world was closer. He knew for sure that Africa was there and it was bigger than others thought. He wanted to search for African gold and the legendary Prester John. Whatever his ambitions, Prince John created the lines and angles that made possible the great tracks that gave us the Age of Discovery. All that was needed were the means to follow them.


The British were slow to build the ships that had the distance and strength to follow rough waters; when they did a vessel was no more than the size of a small suburban back garden. Columbus’s largest and most famous ship, the Santa Maria, was no more than fifty feet – the typical size of a private yacht on a mooring at Cowes today. Drake’s Golden Hind, in which he circumnavigated the globe,3 was barely one hundred feet. Once the ships were built and the basic navigation was good enough, the British followed the Dutch south then east into the Indian Ocean. They went in search of pepper and silk. They went to buy; they stayed to trade, then live. Thus the British Empire was conceived. It was a conception of opportunity, not of determination. The British went first to where the Dutch were, the East Indies, then to India where the Portuguese were, along with the silks that they could trade anywhere. They stayed because the Mughal needed them to protect himself from the Portuguese; the longer they stayed the more money they made and the more they needed the paraphernalia to protect their interests. Thus the uneasy commercial pregnancy produced an almost healthy birth. The British wanted to stay and to expand in India and they fought the Portuguese and particularly the French so to do. But this was the act of a small offshore island people attempting to create an empire, to become Novi Romani. The British in the Caribbean fought to defend their interests against, for example, late-eighteenth-century France. In India, there were battles that sent the French packing, but even then there was an understanding that when the two countries were at war, their trading entities in India should not be.


The coming about of the British Empire to outlive even the much admired Spanish possessions, the direction and influence it gave on British contemporary history and the sheer Kiplingesque theatre of it all have bewitched schoolchildren for generations


At the centrepiece of my personal curiosity has been the viceroys. I once taught that nineteenth-century India was what the British did with aristocrats who neither were not quite Whigs nor hunted south of the Thames. It was a feeble, spur-of-the-moment aside in contemporary history supervision because today the social distinction of hunting north but certainly not south of the Thames is no longer understood by those who hunt for an Upper Second. Here then one of the first distinctions when discussing the rights and wrongs of British colonial history. Never begin the debate from our own times. They were caretakers until a truly great but split nation was ready to go her own way and the British accepted that it did not want to be there, could not govern and had never really wanted to after the Sepoy Rebellion. Victoria liked India and learned Urdu and wrote in Hindustani to her Indian munshi, her clerk, Abdul Karim – which said it all.


The importance of understanding the raj, that period of history from post-Mutiny to 1947, is that it began very differently in the early 1600s. The British never went to the east, never mind India, to conquer the subcontinent. Apart from the motive of trade, the British were not a world power; there was no such nation anywhere. Certainly, the British were, in modern speak, punching above their weight, but they had no marauding galleons that put nations to fright, nor armies that trampled across even the nearest continent. They were offshore traders who might have been very different if the Normans had not arrived. The British were also quick learners, as are any competent corsairs. If the Norman Conquest had failed, the whole north-east of England would have survived and the Saxon development of trade into north Europe would have expanded – partly as a consequence of having to avoid William in his continental ambitions. Moreover, the deployment of a protective port-by-port fleet along the English Channel would have led to an earlier trade in the Iberian Peninsula and the employment of privateers into the Saxon fleet with knowledge of the African coast as far south as the Bay of Benin.


The Mughals were not looking for three or four west European nations to settle in, aggressively, to trade or steal. The Mughals had long lived with the traditional threat from the interiors of Asia, whence they had themselves come. Also, India was the subcontinent under threat. The British did not land and take over. Mughal India was fractured. It had princes who protected themselves from insiders rather than outsiders and it manufactured and traded separately. One consequence of the way India was laid out into princely states when the British arrived was the failure to see how they could ever trade as one developing nation. India did not approach that state until well into the nineteenth century. Through the English East India Company, the British gradual reign in India – and the slipping away of the Mughal Empire – coincided with the Civil War in England and the emergence of a political system rather than rule by cohorts of similar persuasion. When the East India Company was testing its full strength, a form of government and parliament in London had developed and was strong enough to produce recognised legislation to somewhat restrict the way the Company traded. The East India Company grew in company with the British system of parliamentary and then political democracy. They were rarely out of step.


The raj was the only moment of complete empire for the British and it is the only time, lasting not even a century, that the history of the British century has been brought to wider audiences. The twenty viceroys each carried glamorous cloaks. However, there is another aspect that must have some credence: as this story uncovered the times from 1858 to 1947, it has also revealed the identity of the British as seen by people elsewhere in the world and still, without them realising, the British themselves. Modern British identity was moulded during the raj, never earlier and certainly not later.


With the blessing of an astonishingly patient editor, Andreas Campomar, and an agent who would have been a fine viceroy (although certainly not a Curzon), Christopher Sinclair-Stevenson, I was allowed to see if I was right about the viceroys, none of whom, incidentally, ever hunted south of the Thames. Heartfelt thanks for enviable proof-reading by Jacqui Lewis.





CHAPTER I



IN THE BEGINNING


The story of the British viceroys of India and thus the raj begins in 1858 during the Indian Mutiny and ends in 1947 with the partition of the subcontinent into two countries; with mainly Muslims in newly created Pakistan and mainly Hindus in India, who before the year was out would be at war with each other.


The longer story – of the British in India – comes in three stages: from the early 1600s to the first governor of the presidency of Fort William (Bengal), Warren Hastings in 1774; from Hastings to 1828 and Lord William Bentinck, the first governor general of India, to the Sepoy Rebellion in 1857; from Canning, the first viceroy, to Mountbatten, the last British viceroy. Raj means rule and the only period when India was directly ruled by the British was 1858 to 1947; therefore that period is the British raj.


The first question is why did the British go to India at all? The second question is why did it take so long to get there?


The first answer is that they failed to establish themselves in the Java spices and silk trade but were given permission by the Mughal Emperor to trade in India. They were late getting there because they were facing the other way: slave trading from the Gulf of Benin to the Caribbean; pirateering bullion from Spanish galleons out of Central America and curiously, considering the maritime reputation of the British, they feared piracy themselves, had limited long-haul shipbuilding expertise and were not entirely sure how to get to the East Indies by sea.


How could they not be sure? Atlantic crossings were simple navigation: across on the trade winds and back via the Gulf Stream. But the voyage that opened the east to north Europeans was much harder and no one had tried it until Vasco da Gama found a way around the Cape of Good Hope into the Indian Ocean in 1497; even then the charts were kept as secret as an alchemist’s dream. There were few secrets about the prizes to be made.


Spices and gay cloths had come overland for centuries. The British had bought and traded them in the markets of the Levant and the ports and cities of western Europe, Antwerp and Venice. They had done so since the tenth century, so the East Indies and spices were no mystery. The voyage to the East Indies, however, was almost entirely in uncharted waters for the British, who had limited navigation instruments and experience sailing in square-riggers in the prevailing monsoons of the Indian Ocean. Moreover, there was little certainty about what was to be found along the African eastern seaboard. Where could they put in for weather, repairs or worse? Little wonder that it was not until the end of the sixteenth century that a British merchant venture could be funded, and find sailing masters and vessels and crews. Even then, it was only after the destruction of the Spanish Armada in 1588 that investors and captains would accept the risk of being attacked by Spanish corsairs and most of all could convince the monarch, Elizabeth I, to sign a proclamation that effectively said that the small fleet sailed on her behalf and therefore the sailors had sole rights to her protection. It was the sixteenth-century mercantile version of a royal monopoly voyage. It would run for more than two centuries.


The commodore of the flotilla carried letters patent from Queen Elizabeth I to say that whomsoever came across these brave merchants should know that they represented the wishes and commercial pleasure of the great Queen of England. Most of the eastern traders had never heard of the great Queen, although the mainly Dutch and Portuguese traders in the East Indies had.




‘ELIZABETH, by the Grace of God, Queen of England, France, and Ireland, Defender of the Faith & co. To all our officers, ministers, and subjects, and to all other people, as well within this our realm of England as elsewhere, under our obedience and jurisdiction, or otherwise, unto whom these our Letters Patents shall be seen, showed, or read, greeting. Whereas our most dear and loving Cousin, George, Earl of Cumberland, and our well-beloved subjects . . . and others . . . they, at their own adventures, costs, and charges, as well for the honour of this our realm of England, as for the increase of our navigation, and advancement of trade of merchandize, within our said realms and the dominions of the same, might adventure and set forth one or more voyages, with convenient number of ships and pinnaces, by way of traffic and merchandize to the East Indies, in the countries and parts of Asia and Africa and to as many of the islands, ports and cities, towns and places, thereabouts, as where trade and traffic may by all likelihood be discovered, established or had; divers of which countries, and. many of the islands, cities and ports, thereof, have long since been discovered by others of our subjects, albeit not frequented in trade of merchandize.’1





A royal proclamation, directed at home to those who would also try to crash the new trade and should not, was not enough to assure the success of the English venture, but the English believed that they would be able to trade because there was enough for everyone and because the English assumed something of a right to access in the world, a world most of which had lain undiscovered for the Elizabethan, in spite of tales and the celebrity of circumnavigators such as Sir Francis Drake (1540–1596). The importance of the moment was that even though the British did not have supremacy at sea they had a new treaty of sorts with the Spanish that promised fleets would be left alone – for the moment. Captains were encouraged to take the risk and the men had few options; the riches were tempting enough and the sailing masters only sailed for riches. Sixteenth-century masters rarely sailed for adventure. They sailed for wealth – that instinct of any empire-building including Britain’s. There were and would continue to be fortunes in spices and later exotic teas and pepper, even more so than the other bedrock of the empire, sugar. So their navigators called them the Spice Islands and the Sugar Islands.


The financial power of pepper was enough for it to be a form of currency. Its earliest importance can be sensed by the fact that the second oldest livery company in the City of London is The Grocers, who evolved from the Guild of Pepperers and were incorporated in the twelfth century. The Pepperers dealt in huge – gross – quantities. Gross became the common trading term and gross became Grocers. Spices and pepper had been traded in London for centuries. In the 1400s, the nutmeg, pepper, cloves and mace spice trade alone coming through the Venetian market was recorded in millions of pounds weight. By then western Europe was established as the biggest mixed-nation market because more people could justify spending (as opposed to simply having the money) on the imports from the Far East.


Gold and silver imports from the Americas had much influence on wealth patterns; the desire to buy more from what the East Indies had to offer grew and the trading companies were able to organise purchasing and transportation on an increasingly efficient scale. By the 1500s the eastern markets were never to shrink. There was an expanding wealthy class in western Europe and to pamper this wider society traders were better organised, investors were spreading their interests and better, bigger, faster and safer ships increased the demand and supply of eastern goods. A historical illusion of the British reflects the homegrown idea that from mediaeval times, the British ruled the world and fought almost everyone else to a standstill to prove their strength, collecting in peace negotiations even more colonial holdings. The East alone puts British glorious domination in doubt.


The Dutch dominated the spice trade to Europe. The British still speak about the English East India Company as an example of great tradition and power and the enthusiasm is well founded but the Dutch should not be footnotes to English triumphs. The United East India Company, Vereenigde Oost-Indishe Compagnie (VOC), was trading with a twenty-one-year charter in 1602 and was the world’s first stock company and the largest corporation ever. As an example of the size of the Dutch institution and investment the VOC traded in 4,785 vessels during the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries whereas the English East India Company discharged just 2,690.


Elizabeth never saw the successful return to England of the first of her well-laden ships. Nor did she know that a century earlier, long before she was born, the Portuguese had opened their first factories in Goa. (Factories from factorium and in the sixteenth century factories meant offices of factors, that is, agents). The British had from the west pushed into the Far East in 1596 – sixteen years after Drake’s circumnavigation. Drake had sailed his five ships west in 1577 to plunder Spanish bullion ships in the Spanish Main but could not get back because the Spanish fleet were waiting for him. He went south around the isthmus of South America, then north to California (and claimed it for the Queen on his way), then further north in search of the Northwest Passage, then west to Japan, then west north of Australia and to the Spice Islands


Drake continued across the Indian Ocean (he may have attacked a Portuguese ship and ‘rescued’ the invaluable Indian Ocean charts), missing the subcontinent, and rounding the Cape of Good Hope and North to anchor off Saltash. Drake, the greatest ocean sailor in British maritime history, might have inspired East Indies ventures. Few could do what he did and survive. The search in the 1590s for the Indies under the enormously experienced Benjamin Wood failed. He and his entire flotilla were lost at sea. Even Drake lost four of his five ships. Sailors were going into little-known waters even though the Spanish, Portuguese and Dutch had already found their similar ways east. It was a voluminous chart table in an Iberian vessel attacked by an English ship that gave the Elizabethans the chartwork needed to cross the Indian Ocean into the East Indies. The first task of mercantile explorers was to petition the monarch for her permission to sail for the Indian Ocean because they needed the royal patronage as a means of introduction and confirmation of their bona fide even if the Queen had no real knowledge of the princes and kings they would meet.


A royal proclamation was a document that would attract financial backing, for it effectively said that the holder had exclusive rights to the trading. Under these conditions and with this authority three vessels sailed for the Arabian Sea in 1591 and one of the ships, the Edward Bonaventure, went on as far as the Malay Peninsula before returning to Torbay in 1594.


On 31 December 1600 Elizabeth issued a new proclamation together with a fifteen-year charter granted to the Earl of Cumberland and 215 others to trade under the name Governor and Company of Merchants of London Trading With The East Indies. This was effectively permission to hold a monopoly on British trading east of Suez and west of the Straits of Magellan.


Enough was known of the Indian Ocean’s prevailing weather conditions so important to square riggers, where outward bound stores and safe havens for repairs were to be found and, most importantly, reliable charts. Under Sir James Lancaster, the Company put to sea bound for the East Indies. Lancaster, not without terrible mishaps, returned to England in the year his patron died. Her successor, James I, sensibly had no hesitation in continuing support for the Company without instituting any difficult legislation that restricted the voyaging and commercial success. Within six years he had licensed other consortia but made it known that the Governor and Company of Merchants of London Trading With The East Indies was the Crown’s preference and that, unless there was a three-year period without profits, then the Company had royal patronage for ever and a day; so it would be for close on four hundred years to come. The crucial question for investors was not so much whether there would be profits. Few could have doubted that from reports and the first returned cargo. The bigger question was how to sustain such levels of discovery and trading. After Lancaster, there could be no let-up in the voyages.


The plight of Henry Middleton, who was given command of the second voyage with his pennant in Lancaster’s former ship, Red Dragon, was an early warning to others that nothing in these ventures should be taken for granted. The voyages were far from home and in often treacherous waters, although a ship reliant on often unreliable weather reporting and treacherous manning by even British locals did not have to sail 7,000 miles to run into seemingly insurmountable difficulties. The old sailors’ adage that at sea only the weather was predictable and even that was variable came true.


Middleton’s squadron sailed from the Thames on 25 March 1604. He had not logged a hundred miles when he found that the ship was undermanned – an easy enough mistake only discovered when the watch was changed. After an eight-hour sail a further headcount was taken and Middleton was told that the ship now had twenty-eight more men than needed and so did each of the other ships. It was a regular enough swindle (also some of the bosun’s mates who counted ship companies could not count) aboard sailing ships, enormously driven by manpower as they were. When they stood off Cape Verde three weeks later for stores, one of the merchants went missing. There was more to come. Scurvy ran through Red Dragon and Middleton was forced into Table Bay to put eighty sailors ashore, where locals attacked them. The reduced fleet reached the Maluku Islands in February and Middleton found himself and his crew involved in a war between the Dutch and Tidore tribesmen and then a local conflict between the Portuguese and the Dutch. It was a bloody affair and involved more than cutlass and pistol. Large ordnance was pitched and fired with devastating effect as Dutch and Ternate locals fought Portuguese and Tidorean, who in turn sacked and pillaged the local fort. It was a typical trading war for cloves. The raging fire destroyed the fort and inevitably the stores of cloves. Middleton and the survivors on Red Dragon were seeing evidence enough that spices could be traded in the sack houses of the Levant and western Europe, but the origins of the cargo were to explain for decades the burden of laying hands on the abundance in this seed corn of the British Empire.


The Dutch would hold their own against the English intrusion for a full century because, in spite of all the English had learned about getting into the new trade, they did not have much with which to trade. They knew what they wanted to buy. Bantam in Java was the international market of south-east Asia and had most finely decorated woven silks and fine cottons, which the Europeans and English wanted. But to trade meant having much to barter. The English arrived with their very European-climate broadcloths. They hoped to barter for fine silks and cotton calico. Even the English silver attracted little attention.





CHAPTER II



THE RETREAT TO INDIA


When James Lancaster sailed for Java in February 1601 in his ships of the Company of Merchants of London Trading with the East Indies he had imagined that heavy wool was just what was needed in the East Indies. More immediately, the British did manage to set up agents and warehouses in spite of opposition from individual Dutch agents and traders armed with private armies. The most infamous confrontation remains the Amboina Massacre of 1623. It was at this point that the British decided to redirect their trading effort in the East Indies. They did not leave the area we would call Jakarta. Instead they began the slow trading diplomacy in India and the adventure that would lead to the viceroys. A little caution is worthwhile. Firstly, the British did establish a factory in Bantam that was certainly there for some decades and, secondly, they were soon one of the principal traders in the China Sea and the Straits. The Dutch from the spice area expelled the British in 1623. They returned to Bantam in 1628. They traded uneventfully up to 1640, when the Dutch did send them packing, but this coincided with the beginnings of substantial English trade in Madras. Put together, the events in the East Indies and the British diplomacy and trade in India were coincidental enough; the British simply moved on and with limited resources put most effort into India where the opportunities were recognised as greater than in the Spice Islands.


Sir James Lancaster’s first recognised East India Company voyage was armed with a Royal Commission and a set-up fund of more than £14 million in 2017 currency. In short, the consequences of a failed voyage would not be contemplated. Resorting to common skulduggery was a better option than withdrawing to England with empty holds. Skulduggery prevailed. Lancaster hijacked a Portuguese vessel laden with silks and calico and precious metals. He swapped the stolen cargo for pepper at Aceh and spices at Bantam. Even though he established an agency at Bantam his fleet of four, full to the tweendecks, sailed for England. The British were not to rely on piracy or any version of it. Piracy was never a rich man’s ambition and Indian textiles were a far superior currency to anything they had yet found.


The Mughal rulers of northern and central India were hardly insignificant princes set in crude times and places. Mughal India was the focal point of sixteenth- and early-seventeenth-century civilisation and when the fledgling East India Company sent, in 1608, one of its experienced and Turkic-speaking captains, William Hawkins, to seek an audience with the Mughal Emperor, there was much diplomacy to be agreed before the English could feel they could invest in a subcontinent ancient enough to have had an empire centuries before the British arrived.


India had a civilisation older than western Europe. Sometimes known to Europeans as the Indus civilisation, that is, either based on or to the east of the Indus River, was a society that had developed by 2500 BC. By 1750 BC that society had corrupted and scattered. Even 500 years before the birth of Christ, Aryan peoples had established separate kingdoms in the Ganges delta. The Mauryan Empire that grew under Chandra Gupta1 was split into small kingdoms. By AD 600, the Arabic invasions of the Northwest Frontier had begun. Uncertainties and ensuing conflicts continued for a millennium until much of India was brought under the rule of the Mughal during the first half of the sixteenth century when Babur the Great, who traced his line from Genghis Khan, had conquered Delhi in 1527. At the time of the coming of the East India Company it was Babur’s grandson, Akbar the Great, who controlled most of India from its centre to its northern borders.2


The message from the Company was simple: it wanted to set up in India. The hopes were as high as anyone could judge in such an alien society with a leadership too taken with cruelly or indifferently demonstrated power so that no one, certainly not the British, could be sure that here was where the future lay. If it did not work, what would happen? The British would have, on a much smaller scale, sat uneasily in Bantam or may even have returned to Europe and looked harder at America. The empire may not have been in the British mind, but on reflection it might so easily have never happened. Certainly the British at this point were second-rate traders. Nothing more. True, the Emperor got on with Hawkins but how could he have ever agreed to anything with a country that did not have a proper ambassador in India? In this early-seventeenth-century period there was no diplomatic service. An agreeable and hard-drinking sailor from a trading company who had fallen on hard times was not the man to pull off a major diplomatic triumph with the ruler whose kind had all but conquered their known world.


It was not until seven years later that the then King, James I (Elizabeth had died in 1603) appointed the man who would be the first British envoy to an Indian court. Even then, when the Mughal made King James’s man, Sir Thomas Roe (1581– 1644) petition the Emperor Sher Afgan Ali Quli Khan Jahangir to open an agency at Surat, the Mughal Emperor made Roe wait outside for months before even greeting him. Roe, in a letter to the British ambassador to Constantinople (Istanbul, where later Roe himself would be ambassador), was hardly pleased with his lot, camped in Mandu as he was, waiting on an Emperor he was fast coming to loathe.




‘Death and I have been house fellows and are grown familiar . . . I am full of India, even to fastidious . . . Our settling here is no other than by commands to the ports and town which we desire; nor yet to all, and those revocable at pleasure and subject to daily alterations. Neither will this overgrown elephant (the emperor) descend to article or bind himself reciprocally to any prince upon terms of equality; but only by way of favour, admit our stay so long as it either likes him or those that govern him . . .’1





Roe came from a county family (Norfolk) and a line of powerful financiers (his grandfather and then his uncle were Lord Mayors of London and he, Thomas, was a senior investor in the Royal Council of Virginia and had sailed in 1610 in search of El Dorado and its legendary capital Manoa). He was also entrusted with the most delicate and private embassies of James’s court and so, when the King decided he had to send someone to India, Roe was one of the few he trusted who had survived the experience of hazardous travel through the jungles of Central America!


In early February 1615 Roe set sail from Tilbury to India. The weather was so grim that his ship did not reach the Lizard until March. It took Roe a month to sail the English Channel, not unusual in a square rigged ship against a headwind. His ship anchored off Cape Town for two weeks and then put to sea for India and made Surat on 18 September, nine months after sailing from the Thames Estuary. The Emperor Jahangir was having dealings with the Portuguese (mostly he was at minor war with them), who insisted that, in return for peace, the British should be banned from the Mughal’s country. To counter the arguments, here was another impediment to British trading efforts; neither Roe nor any of his staff spoke Jahangir’s court language, Persian. Roe spoke Latin and could use that for bargaining with the Portuguese, but nothing more. This year, 1616, was a crucial point in the nursery of British ambitions in India. Not one of the British in the land spoke the only language spoken at court. The Portuguese were of some help but had their own interests to look after and the Dutch were about to launch into India. Roe had only one tactic: bribery. His single piece of palm greasing was very British and very unusual. Roe gave the Mughal a state coach. The Mughal was delighted. Paintings, bejewelled swords, hunting dogs and whiskey followed the coaches.


The Mughal was in Ajmer with a camp of perhaps 200,000. Each had to be satisfied. The bribery took time. So did the procedures and protocols. When Jahangir struck camp and headed for the hills and jungles, Roe, with his own staff all in his red and green colours camping beneath the flag of St George, had to follow in as much style as possible while being careful not to upstage the ruler. When Roe sailed for England in February 1619 he did so with Jahangir’s good wishes. The Mughal would not give a formal treaty to the Englishman but there was a letter of welcome for the far-off monarch, James I. Roe, the first ambassador, had shown what might be possible – with the right Mughal and a well made coach. The footings of the British Empire were dug with the designs not of the monarch but of the English East India Company, with a court of directors (24) and a governor with rooms in London. From the early 1600s until the 1850s the British traded with and then ran India through a commercial enterprise


The Mughal Emperors may not have been much impressed with the English. Simply, once the British had the authority of the Mughal Emperor and comptroller of the imperial house behind them, they could extend any formal agreement without it having to be renegotiated. Payment here and there would usually be the way to add to a concession. They bragged that they could take what they wished and struck deals that suited them with local and regional potentates who could always find some authority to agree should it be financially worthwhile. The British brought their own armies to protect their styles of commercial wars. Those armies were far from invincible and, in somewhere with climate and conditions as inhospitable to even south Europeans, causes other than battle wounds took a huge toll.


Soldiers were not usually living in ideal and clean conditions and they often took little care of themselves. A common wound would be vulnerable to disease and there were few medical attentions. Consequently, it was often the case that more died from what might have been easily treated conditions than on the battlefield. The Portuguese appeared particularly vulnerable and they died in their thousands during the battles for territory and the freedom to trade as they wished. While the style and often evil reputation of the Portuguese in India made it harder for the English to get agreement with Mughals wary of any European country, it was also clear that the superior military capabilities, especially at sea, of the English could be used to defend the Indian princes. And so it was to be, while at the same time both the ‘good’ and the ‘bad’ Portuguese were recognised by the English as having broken the way into India and breached the positions of invincibility of the Mughals.


The English did well from the military and commercial ice breaking accomplished by the Portuguese at a time when the English were learning the trade of colonial creep just as Portuguese colonialism was in decline. There was, too, a growing suspicion that the European allies of the English, the Dutch, were far from friends and having done for them further east would do the same in India. More formally, the English were in good concert with the Dutch. On the front line of new colonialism the proprietors and directors of the Company were quite certain none was to be trusted. The obvious retreat to opportunity and prosperity for the British came when it was clear they could not succeed in the East Indies against the Dutch on the scale that was necessary to turn the East India venture into a success rather than, at the very best, a break-even project.


The Dutch had strength across the region and the monopoly in the Straits of Malacca. It is worth remembering that the contest was not between Dutch and English. The local traders did more than take sides. They were there to trade. They would fight on the Dutch side because the trade link was established. The confrontations were often skirmishes but the wars were real enough. Between 1652 and 1674 and 1781 and 1810 there were four Anglo-Dutch Wars, which were all about who controlled trade. The English would continue to trade in the East Indies but in the most sensible manner. They would establish themselves in India where they could get goods, especially fine silks that made trading sense with the East Indies spice dealers. If there was something in the order of a ‘breakthrough’ it was when Jahangir authorised the English warehouses, factories and permissions to trade from Surat on the western seaboard of India. Why would Jahangir do that for the English? Firstly, because the English could make sure the maharaja came by European goods that he otherwise found difficult to secure and secondly, and perhaps most importantly, the English could protect Jahangir, particularly from the Portuguese. Jahangir wrote to James I




‘I have give my general command to all those kingdoms and ports of my dominions to receive all the merchants of the English nation as the subjects of my friend; that in what place soever they chose to live they may have free liberty without any restraint and at what port soever they shall arrive that neither the Portugal nor any other shall dare to molest their quiet and in what city soever they shall have residence I have commanded all my governors and captains to give them freedom answerable to their own desires to sell, buy, and to transport to their own country at their pleasure. For confirmation of our love and friendship I desire your Majesty to command your merchants to bring in their ships of all sorts of rarities and rich goods fit for my palace . . .’2





By any standard that was an acknowledgement of free pratique. It was a foothold in an India in which thousands of English men and women would one day be born. It would become the new home of a new generation of the British, the imperial invader and the expatriate.


The first invaders came from the Persian Gulf and did so at the earliest times of Islam – the year of hijra (emigration) and the start of the Muslim calendar is 622. The arrival of Muslims included those who were there to attack raiders from India who frequently plundered Arab wealth. However, the Arabs did not cross the natural frontier, the Indus.


The Indian kingdoms, especially the three that made up the frontier of al-Hind, were dominant in the seventh century while the princes of Kabul guarded access into and from India for more than a century until the late 800s ad. Seemingly the lands and peoples of India have always been at conflict. The seventh, eighth- and ninth-century invasions, mere skirmishes that became battles that became wars that became conquests, were over the same grounds and in the same phrases and language as many in the late twentieth century and the twenty-first century, based on ancient histories, anxieties and centuries old suspicions.


Eighth-century rulers in Kabul were not so differently motivated than those in more recent times. The Islamists who moved across what was then Multan settled easily among the Sunnis in much the same way as they might today. The Saffaridi who overran Kabul in 871 AD had very twentieth-century motives of occupation and exploitation of territory and peoples, as was illustrated by the Muslim Delhi Sultanate that ruled much of India through five dynasties (Marmluk, Khilji, Tughlaq, Sayid and Lodi) for three centuries. In the tenth century, at about the time that Edgar was consolidating the gains of Athelstan as King of England and not just of the English, the Central Asian and Persian Muslim raiding armies plundered northern India. These were not territorial wars. The raiders sought slaves and treasure. They achieved both. The territorial Muslim expansion did not take hold until the twelfth century, following the Sunni expansion of Sultan Muizz al-Din Mohammed in the 1170s. The consequence was the establishment of the Delhi Sultanate before the end of that century. The spell of the five dynasties would survive slaughter and desecration, until Babur, the Turkic prince descendant of Tamerlane and Genghis Khan, attacked Punjab from his stronghold at Kabul and went on from there to defeat first Ibrahim Lodi at Panipat in 1526, then in 1527 Rana Sanga of Mewar and then the Afghans of Uttar Pradesh and Bihar in 1529.


Babur was dead the following year but left his successors control of much of northern India from the Indus to Bihar in the west and to the Himalayas and south to Gwailor, not a hundred miles south of Agra. The dynasty rarely had the luxury of relaxing control and indeed Babur’s surrendered to the Afghans. It was Akbar (1542–1605) who recovered the empire in 1556 and is seen as the finest of all the Mughal Emperors partly because he established a system of administration that was as fair and considerate as possible to Hindus as well as his Muslim followers. As the British sailed for India with Elizabeth I’s proclamation, Akbar reigned.


By the time of the English submissions for trading rights and the establishment of agencies, Akbar’s son Jahangir was in power; it was his son, Shah Jahan, who built the Taj Mahal at Agra and the Great Mosque at Delhi. If there was what is commonly seen as a step-change in the Mughal rule, then it came with Shah Jahan’s successor. Whereas Mughal rule worked with some success because of the acceptance of Hinduism as well as Islam (the religion of the rulers), it failed in the next generation when Aurangzeb became Emperor (1658–1707).


Certainly, Aurangzeb expanded the empire, but he usurped the Hindu population in important positions, banned their separate schooling practices and persecuted the Sikhs and Rajputs. When he died in 1707, Aurangzeb left the Mughal Empire in India in rebellion and throughout the long reign (1719–1748) of Muhammad Shah (1702– 1748) factional divisions could not be calmed and the invasion and the occupation of much of northern India by the Marathas, the yeoman farmers and warriors whose modern origins may be found in the north lands of the 1st century ad, left the Mughal Empire little authority and strongly settled only in the region of Delhi. The last of the Mughals, Bahadur Shah II, became Emperor during the year of Victoria’s accession to the throne, 1837. He survived with no real authority, although respected as a man of considerable cultural understanding, and was reasonably content to see out his time in Delhi as a client prince of the British in India. Towards the end of his life, sepoys from Meerut overran Delhi and forced him to declare that he was the leader of what generally would be remembered as the Sepoy Rebellion – the Indian Mutiny. The rebellion was over in 1858 and Emperor Bahadur Shah II was sent into exile in Burma, Myanmar. He died four years later. His going was the end of the Mughal Empire in India.


A little more than two centuries after the British arrival in Surat, they brought about the end of the rule of the Mughals. Even without the Sepoy Rebellion, Bahadur Shah and his like would have gone. His going could be the point to ask what would have happened to India if the British had never arrived?


John William Kaye, in an observation in his study of the East India Company system, wondered if the Indians would have been




‘more or less happy and prosperous if they had been left to the government of their old Mahomedan [sic] conquerors and rulers’.3





The British did plunder the riches of India but not by conquering an indigenous monarchy. They overcame and usurped the authority of the Mughals. As Kaye saw it, both the British and Mughals were aliens. Looking at the way Mughal Emperors treated non-Muslims after Jahangir and Shah Jahan, especially using Aurangzeb as an example, the British have the verdict on points. In the early 1600s and right up to the twentieth century the case was simpler. The British had failed in the East Indies and were now setting out for fortunes in India. The central bank and ambition of this cause was the East India Company.


The Company had the trading and territorial expansion opportunities to grow quicker than it did. Missing were the initiatives among the often unsure and insecure staff and the sheer hard work of working in a strange environment where no conventional trading practices resolved difficulties that were thrown up by new colonists falling back on repression to overcome people and conditions that were seen as opposition to the Company rather than as both sides being quite uncertain how to trade or work together. Here was the basis for the brute force of all that would go wrong at the time as well as colonial in examination centuries later.


The directors of John Company lived with the asset of uncertainty. There was even the aspect of the security of the offices, the factory, the storage and transfer of trading goods and all this in an alien environment, despite the willingness of the Mughal Emperor to encourage the English in return for riches such as were from Europe, and protection. The Company had to provide its own security and here were the origins of the famous India Army, although the protection of interests in these early years was in the hands of ragtag bunches of mercenaries barely more trustworthy than the local thieves and insurgents who might threaten the English traders.


These are not at all impressions of plumed doffed British colonial history. The monarch of a small island people had no reputation to flaunt that would bewitch a Mughal ruler and his viziers. They were not overwhelmed by people who came with petitions for their safety and good hearing signed by a woman about whom they knew little. The English ambassadors, with Elizabeth I’s signed petition, were seen as envoys from poor and obscure fishing islands off the coast of north-west Europe. How could they be of any consequence? They were kept waiting in the anterooms; why would the Indians of the great Mughal think otherwise, until of course the small people from small islands produced a state coach and more as presents for the Mughal. Equally the Indian princes would rely on the British for their thrones, right up to 1947. Immediately in the seventeenth century the ragbag regiments of the East India Company would take on the role of protector.


Realism and opportunity won the hour and did so partly through the intelligence and diplomacy of one of the most remarkable women in Mughal ruling history, Nur Jahan (1577–1645), Jahangir’s Empress and his number-one consort. Nur Jahan was Jahangir’s twentieth and favourite wife and the most powerful woman in the seventeenth-century Mughal Empire. Nur Jahan, born of Persian nobility in the city of Kandahar (today in Afghanistan), is the only Mughal Empress to feature on the crown side of the empire’s silver coinage. There, too, is a passing irony. Elizabeth I is remembered still for her Tilbury speech when she proclaimed that she had the body of a woman but the heart of a man. Nur Jahan, a sturdy huntress, was remembered by a poet as




‘Though Nur Jahan be in form a woman, In the ranks of men she’s a tiger slayer . . .’





Nur Jahan displayed few weaknesses and the envoys of the Company would learn from their dealings with her that Mughal and later thrones in India were often no different from those in Europe – behind each one, another power operated the wires of authority. So the English learned to wait, anticipate and show appropriate thanks where it was most due; this approach led to the expansion of the relationship between the English and the ruling Emperors. The first trading post had been set up by 1619. Fifteen years later, the Emperor agreed the same terms as had worked well in Surat for the English to move into Bengal in 1634. Five years on, in 1639, John Company’s burgee flew above the post in Madras, in Bombay by 1688 and Calcutta two years later.


Bombay and its islands were the most important acquisition for the English East India Company. The Company recognised the strategic as well as the commercial value of coast and estuary control in places like Bombay harbour; moreover, the increasing pressure that the Dutch were placing on the Company made it clear to the Crown that some way had to be found to get English hands on the western seaboard. The solution came in 1661 with the restoration of Charles II4 to his throne and his marriage to Catherine, the daughter of King John IV of Portugal. Part of Catherine’s dowry was a group of the islands of Bombay. It was hard to see what the King’s estate could reasonably do to manage the islands and most of all protect them. The answer was with John Company, an independent trading organisation, owned by the British government.


In 1668 the Bombay islands were leased to the East India Company at an annual rent of £10. Empires were rarely so cheap and never such a bargain. The way and breadth of the Company and the expanding period of the British commercial interests of the seventeenth century and into the first part of the eighteenth century inevitably changed the way the Company was minded by government, which was in itself radically changing from a court party to the beginnings of party politics; soon, government would develop economic and foreign policies for their values rather than the personality rivalries that had existed for centuries. India was shifting in its power politics, the Company had become a colonial invader with its own army and an active interest in how the princes governed and the government in London exercised a controlling interest in the Company to keep it in line with an emerging and sophisticated foreign policy far more complex than simply dealing with a perceived threat from Roman Catholic France and Spain.


The British interests were strongest in Bengal. It was the most profitable area, yet it was northern India that was most vulnerable to attack because assaults came from the land. For example, the Persians sacked Delhi and the Afghans, led famously by Ahmad Shah Abdali, swarmed over the border and plundered even further south. Amid all this, the Mughal princes and governors were setting up their own states and regional interests. With the virtual collapse of the Mughal Empire, the individual states each had to be attended to by the Company, according to the power politics of the princes. So, the emerging principalities of Bengal, Hyderabad, Oudh, the Maratha Confederation and Mysore, together with the Rajput princes and the Sikhs in Punjab, each had to be watched by the British politicians and traders. Each prince was bribed when necessary and fought when all else failed. Here was one reason why the East India Company expanded its private army of sepoys.


Sepoys were native soldiers and the name itself comes from the Persian for warrior. It was in this period of the mid-1700s that the contrast in styles of the French and the British were most apparent and would eventually lead to confrontation, not entirely because of the conflict of interests in India, but because of the wars between the two countries thousands of miles away. The French hired and drilled Indian sepoys, albeit not always loyal, long before the British. This advantage threatened the British foothold in India.


The Mughal Emperor Abdul Muzaffar Muhi-ud-Din Aurangzeb, The Universe Seizer, died at the age of 89 in March 1707. Aurangzeb was the sixth of the Mughal Emperors of India and ruled more than 100 million people in more than three million square miles. The British would come to rule more than four times that number of people and square miles. Within two decades of the Mughal’s death, the pattern of rule and influence in India changed.5


Aurangzeb ruled by fear often enforced by strict moral codes (not unlike those in twenty-first-century Islam when inspired by socio-economic scales). His single-mindedness appeared to be a profitable policy, although his severity towards many of his peoples provided few long-term dividends for India. The Mahratta in the south were in open rebellion led by Shivaji Bhonsle (1630–1680), whose military successes (the battles of Pratapgarh, Pavan Khind, Chakan, Kolhapur and Nesari are still recited) and the movement for independence in India inspired long after his death. Towards his end, few would support Aurangzeb; the Hindu uprising in the Hindu Jats rebellion against religious taxes led by Gokul Singh (executed in 1670) marked an example of opposition that was far more than tribal and peoples’ differences.


The military power with which Aurangzeb’s Mughals had ruled had waned in India. Towards his end, Aurangzeb was a fugitive even from his own sons, although he outlived many of them. Much of his adult life had been spent conquering the Dakkhin Plateau covering most of the central and the southern parts of the subcontinent and the origins of many great dynasties and states including the Maratha Empire, extending at one late stage to one third of the subcontinent.


The complexity of Mughal rule in this eighteeth-century period challenged the supposedly efficient European authority. The British and the French stood by for war seemingly in every decade of the century. It was a century of increased profits from an ever-expanding Company who, after just a hundred years, ruled like a twenty-first-century global trading corporation. The Company was more than a trading company. It was also a conquering army. Its military enemies were the French and the princes, who were just as likely to join a battle on whichever side had the upper hand.


The British did not have a simple task of rule especially as the French had, in the eighteenth century, remaining territorial ambitions but the Company, apart from its land and naval superiority, had one advantage over French commercial interests. The British tended to make deals with whichever prince controlled whichever region they were interested in. The French system was to trade with the centre of power. When that centre moved in ever-increasing concentric political circles, French influence was stretched. Instinctively the French and British traders agreed on one particular policy, if at all possible, to stay out of each other’s wars. Even when France and Britain went to war, neither company wanted conflicts to disrupt trading, nor did they wish to lose any chance of taking the advantage of that war. It was a sensible idea but someone had to lose the faux truce. This commercially inspired neutrality was abandoned to sensible opportunism in 1746 when a British naval squadron put into Calcutta for repairs. With the sea to the south free, the French assaulted and captured Madras, the British headquarters in southern India. When the peace agreement was made two years later the conflict in India continued. There was a crudeness in the way of trading and commanding in eighteenth-century India that was not so different from what was practised elsewhere in the globe but now might be seen as a purely British way of exploiting the opportunities in India and behaving badly towards the people. The charge of colonialism – or worse, imperialism – is too hard to live down.


The major success was in the Company’s main area of interest, Bengal. Bengal was, in the mid-eighteenth century, a confrontation waiting to happen between local rulers and the British. Its tradition as the richest state with the most condensed population made it a natural arena for the Company’s commercial expertise. But the local rulers had moved on from the days of benign negotiation and now wanted far more from the British, who seemed to be getting too much for themselves.


So, it was inevitable that, in 1756, the twenty-one-year-old Nawab of Bengal, Siraj ud Daula, (sometimes ud-Daula) sent his troops to assault the two Company headquarters, one at Calcutta, the other at Kasimbaza. This event, on 20 June 1756, came to be known as the Black Hole of Calcutta. Siraj ud Daula went the way of many of his predecessors; he was murdered. Company officials did very well financially and the enterprise did even better in trading terms. When the new nawab, Mir Jaffr, felt aggrieved enough to object to Company practices, the British got rid of him. They replaced him with his son-in-law, Mir Kasim. He showed his gratitude by giving the Company Burdwan, Chittagong and mid Mapur. When in 1764 Mir Kasim also felt hard done by, the Company got rid of him as well. It would be very difficult to describe British expansion in India as an exercise in quiet government. The eighteenth century was one of old orders changing. This was not a time of sheathed swords, nor damp charges and squibs. From North America, to France and the rest of Europe and then to Asia and in particular India, nations were herded into new states. In India, a thousand princes still reigned. A small island people had come to reign over them and had sent young men with a little education, a little breeding and huge ambition to be what they could never be in their little islands. It was, too, a century of ambition. The English East India Company was a natural adventure for a young man to be what he wanted to be rather than what he was. So it was for Robert Clive, one day Clive of India.





CHAPTER III



CLIVE, HASTINGS, IMPEACHMENT


A Company man might have neither military training nor instinct but conflict was so easily at hand that a run with the army could be the way to notice, distinction and riches. That was the origin of the story of Robert Clive. Clive (1725–1774) was all about India. One of thirteen children, he was not born in hard times but such a large family presented its difficulties. Clive moved a lot, lived with relations and was sent to a variety of schools, none of which was splendid nor distinguished although one – Mr Stiling’s School in Hertfordshire – taught bookkeeping. Clive showed little learning but considerable aggression and was rescued from dire straits by being sent and articled in 1743 to the Madras offices of the Company; the other two Company offices were in the presidencies of Bombay and, supremely, Calcutta. Typical of Clive’s itinerancy, the ship was diverted to Brazil and took fifteen months to reach India and he was impoverished and depressed. He attempted suicide. His pistol did not work. His frustration and gloom haunted him and made him bad company.


It was a trying time for Clive and his closest colleagues, who weathered the brunt of his mental states. This pattern was disrupted in 1746 when the French attacked and took Madras. Clive escaped, joined the Company army and distinguished himself. Under the command of Major-General Stringer Lawrence, Clive defended the French attack on Cuddalore and by the spring of 1749 it was Lieutenant Clive who rode with Lawrence, who thought Clive was a born soldier.


The conflict with France lulled and Clive put away his military livery and returned to his desk, by this time a much larger one as he was faced with the task of logistics for the troops. The commissions were considerable. Fortunately for Clive’s bank balance war was only taking a rest and in 1751, Captain Clive was back in the saddle with 800 men and his reputation to seal, which he did by capturing Arcot and for fifty-three days that year defending it against a combined French and Indian army. Six years later, in 1757, he sealed his epithet, Clive of India, at Plassey.


Most of the British who served, then at Clive’s times and right to the end in Mountbatten’s era, lived at a finer level than they would have elsewhere – certainly in England. Many of the British who went to India were from lower and lower-middle class backgrounds and by their colonial positions assumed an untested authority over the people of India. These new colonialists took their lead from their jobs, those above them and the levels of authority over the local employees and community. The colonial lower classes might also have found themselves treated as lower caste by the senior colonials as people who would, in the United Kingdom, have been treated as people with little breeding and no right to position. In doing so, the British assumed a new identity – that of the British aristocracy without the charm and responsibilities and therefore the image of arrogance that arrives with patronage over those who have nothing by those who have left behind nothing. By Clive’s time, certainly by the time of the first of the governors general had become the new Mughals and, as with that other generation of princes, the British did well from old practices. Clive’s victories, concessions and protection were thus consolidated in territorial as well as commercial terms. The new nawab was Mir Jafar. The way of India at the time was that the victors were tipped heavily in financial and political terms by the new nawab. Clive had made a lot of money after the siege of Arcot. Now, following the battle of Plassey, Clive received a gratuity from the nawab of more than £230,000, plus tenancy rents that would give him £27,000 a year. If the backhanders and presents seemed outrageous they really were not, although in 1773 Clive had to explain himself to the House of Commons, where he had been accused of corruptly enriching himself. He responded:




‘. . . I stand amazed at my own moderation . . .’





Parliament and its government could chuckle at Clive’s wit but beneath the joke was increasing concern that there was too much corruption; some skimming commissions and interest rates were ever acknowledged as inevitable and it was the way of the world, not just India. The 1773 Regulating Act immediately gave the British government partial jurisdiction over India through the East India Company, which ruled as an agent of the Mughal Emperor of India.


The centre of British-Company rule was Bengal. The British through the Act appointed for the first time a governor general and supreme council of Bengal to be elected by the East India Company’s court of directors. All positions, including governor-general, would be for five-year terms. The governor-general was the forerunner of the viceroy, the first of whom, Lord Canning, would be appointed in 1858 under the Government of India Act. In 1833, the Charter Act retitled the head of British India as governor-general of India. Warren Hastings was the first governor-general of the presidency of Fort William in Bengal (not first governor-general of India.)


When he arrived in office Hastings understood the opportunities for generous personal funding although he did not fully realise them until his second term of office. Little wonder that when it became his turn to be accused of riches beyond his expectations, Warren Hastings did not find a sympathetic audience that might quietly chuckle at his witty riposte. Once accused, Hastings was always going to be pressed for answers.


The Sir Joshua Reynolds portrait of Warren Hastings in the National Portrait Gallery in London shows a slim, balding and daintily dressed fellow better suited to a late-eighteenth-century salon than the Bar of the House of Commons, at which he would be impeached and all but ruined for lining his deep coffers with the commissions and corruptly gathered pay-offs as virtual ruler of India. He was all of these yet spitefully accused. He fought long and hard and eventually cleared himself and his considerable debts. Hastings, like many of his generation, went to India in poor and difficult circumstances. His family came from a line of country gentlemen from Daylesford in Worcestershire. The family had lost Daylesford and Hastings rightly believed that his impeachment meant he could never find the funds to restore the home that had been in the family for 500 years. Hastings vowed that once his name was cleared (he was one of the few confident enough to believe it would be) he would buy back his family land. It was a dark picture of a young man, one of disappointment. Yet his shortened education at Westminster had taught him all about quick wit, bravery in games, cultural confidence from languages, historical awareness and what might work or what might fail.


Like Clive’s relatives, influence was cashed in to get Hastings to India and the Company. He arrived in the Company’s capital of Calcutta in 1750. Calcutta, even by this time, was the ‘New York’ of British India. It was the commercial centre of Bengal and home to the people who created change and exhibited everything that was happening within the Company and the considerable other commercial ventures of India. The Emperor’s palace was in Delhi. India’s counting house was Calcutta. Hastings did not have an easy time. He became an ally of the governor of Bengal, the senior Company man in India. Bad decisions, or at least the interpretations of negotiations with the prince, the Nawab of Bengal Mir Kasim (d.1777), who had been installed by the British when they replaced his father Mir Jafar, who turned out to be double-dealing with the Dutch East India Company. Hastings believed that for all his faults, including some double-dealing, Mir Jafar was badly treated by the British, even though in his later years, Mir Jafar had been losing control and making poor decisions and taking additional ‘commissions.’ When the British installed Mir Kasim, Hastings objected. He was ignored particularly by some of the British who did financially well by supporting Mir Kasim. Mir Kasim modernised his Bengal army. Mir Kasim’s capture of the British in Calcutta was one of the turning points in the British attitude towards him. The British went to war with Mir Kasim and he was defeated at the Battle of Buxar in October 1764. Significantly, not only was Mir Kasim defeated, but two other princes, Shah Alam, who made a separate truce with the British, and Shah Shuja-ud-Daula, who ran and blew up the only escape route for his own followers. Mir Kasim’s defeat gave the British the complete run of the Ganges Valley, the North East India and as a leader he was the last nawab who could muster the forces to contain the British. Instead, the British humiliated him.


They took everything Mir Kasim had and drove him out of Buxar on a lame elephant. His clothing was sold to pay for his funeral. Hastings had already been accused of taking money from Mir Kasim. Nothing was proved and no one tried hard to change that. Hastings returned to London the following year, 1765, and lived in some style, pushing his case as a valuable advisor by promoting ideas including an Oxford chair in Asian languages and his belief that Bengal, the seat of British India, was now British and the princes would like to be protected and therefore ruled from London. In 1769, Hastings returned to India and en route fell in love with the wife of Baron Carl von Imhoff, a junior officer in the Madras army, who lived in Hastings’s house in Madras when her husband went to Bengal. They later married. It was a successful second marriage for them both; Hastings became a more cheerful fellow and was promoted to governor of Bengal in 1772. He now had authority, or assumed it for himself into an area rarely touched in London.


Following a 1765 review in the Company of how to control influences, especially in Bengal, there was, in Hastings’s time as governor, an irregular position of authority granted to a Muslim, Mohammad Reza Khan. Hastings sacked him and assumed authority formerly held by the princes. When asked, Hastings simply talked about all sovereignty in Bengal being British. In other words, Bengal and thus British India’s stronghold were British. The British were not in Bengal courtesy of the Indians. The Company, he anticipated, would eventually have no direct purpose because the British government would subsume all its powers over India. When it did, the British Crown would govern India. The British did not want that now because they did not have the political structure to see how it would work.


There was no bureaucracy that could, from London, impose the style and sentiment of Britain through the council in India. Hastings was thinking ahead about a Bengal that was potentially as powerful as some European states with which Britain had been to war or fallen into alliance. This would be seen as twenty million people with twenty million sets of problems or opportunities and, potentially, twenty million revenue sources. Hastings would stay in Bengal for a further thirteen years to test his hypothesis. Hastings left India in 1785 and the greater part of his ambition, revenue collecting, was unsuccessful. The sale of salt and opium was an aid to the economy.


In 1784 William Pitt the Younger introduced what became Pitt’s India Act, which was not repealed until an amendment to the 1916 Government of India Act:




‘An Act for the better Regulation and Management of the Affairs of the East India Company and of the British Possessions in India, and for establishing a Court of Judicature for the more speedy and effectual Trial of Persons accused of Offences committed in the East Indies . . . etc.’





Pitt’s India Act was a reform of the 1773 Act and the powers to enable the British government and the Company to together rule Madras, Bombay and Bengal. The Act made clear that Britain’s role in India was now clearly political and commercial and that the two functions, while separate, inevitably crossed. Therefore, the ruling system had to be clearly defined and the terms of reference for each office and appointment spelt out so that neither role clashed but each would have procedures to follow when one concerned the other. This was a difficult path to follow and taken at a time when the British were still not used to large government even in their domestic affairs. They were dealing with the consequences of losing the major and most hopeful part of their first empire, America. They were at or close to war in Europe, while feeling the way to the first functions of Cabinet government and also being aware of the restless and ambitious imaginations in France that would shortly bring about the French Revolution, which would in turn force many in nearby Britain to question their own cultural, political and social prejudices.


The instinct was not so much entrenchment as simple pulling together resources and defining authority. The 1784 Act did just this.


The British East India Company was heading in the doubtful direction of ‘owning’ India and thus becoming the commercial, military and political moguls of the eighteenthth century. It could not be done. On paper the Company may have looked as if it could rule India. In reality, it could not. Anything so large and potentially even richer and more profitable would only usurp the status quo of a safe investment and ultimately become the focus of an even wider and more powerful military conflict for Britain than the French wars of Clive et al. had ever declared. Simply, the British government most certainly could not let India go.


The 1784 India Act would stabilise and, as far as the colonists were concerned, legitimise the British imperial presence in India. Thus the first stage was to make the Company directly accountable to the British government. Nothing could be changed without the British government’s sanction. While the Company had day-to-day running of Indian possessions, the proper authority was now with a board of control of six, including a secretary of state as president of the board of control, the chancellor and four privy councillors – a board that would report to the Crown. This was government control. A court of directors – the most financially powerful group in what now would be called The City – would run the Company.


The restructure and further control of the Company amounted to greater observation of what was going on in India under London’s authority. This was the 1770s. There was a primitive form of communications. Instructions and reports took months to change hands. Few had the experience of monitoring such an organisation and trying to do so efficiently from thousands of miles away was an impossibly risky task. Interpretation was easier than exact compliance; the process was open to mistakes and corruption both financially and legislatively. The irregularities were in part corrected but the regulations that commanded reform produced further irregularities. Yet despite government control and a regular examination of the way the role of governor-general could function as the on-the-spot steward of India, the system of despotism, corruption and individual speculation and creative government continued whether or not the Company was governed from London. Even Pitt’s Act, as thoughtful as its draughtsmanship was, could not legislate for one aspect of the British venture in India since the beginning.
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